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Mr. Stephen Hoffman 

US Environmental Protection Agency 

Two Potomac Yard 

2733 S. Crystal Drive 

5th Floor, N-237 

Arlington, VA 22202-2733 

 

 

Re: Response to EPA letter regarding Dam Safety Assessment Report 

 Wabash River Generating Station, Vigo County, Indiana  

 

 

Dear Mr. Hoffman: 

 

Duke Energy Indiana (DEI) received the letter from Suzanne Rudzinski, Director of the Office of 

RCRA of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) dated January 7, 2011 and 

the final report from O’Brien & Gere titled “Dam Safety Assessments for CCW Impoundments 

for Wabash River Generating Station.” The site assessment of the Primary Ash Pond (Pond A 

and Pond B), Secondary Ash Pond, and South Ash Pond was conducted by the EPA’s 

engineering contractors on May 11, 2010.  

 

DEI supports EPA’s objective to ensure the safe operation and maintenance of coal combustion 

residue (CCR) impoundments and is committed to meeting all state and federal requirements.  

Based on ongoing monitoring, maintenance and inspections, DEI is confident that the CCR 

impoundments have the structural integrity necessary to protect the public and the environment.  

The O’Brien and Gere report on the Wabash River Generating Station supports this conclusion 

and found that acceptable performance is expected in accordance with the applicable safety 

regulatory criteria.   

 

Today’s submittal is in response to the above referenced letter from EPA dated January 7, 

2011.  As outlined in EPA’s letter the contractor made several recommendations addressing 

minor deficiencies and secondary studies/investigations. The DEI response to each of these 

recommendations can be found in the first attachment. If you have any questions regarding the 





 

Attachment - DEI Responses to EPA Recommendations 
 

 
6.1. URGENT ACTION ITEMS 
 
None of the recommendations are considered to be urgent, since the issues noted above do not 
appear to threaten the structural integrity of the impoundments in the near term. 
 
DEI Response 
 

DEI agrees. 
 
 
6.2. LONG TERM IMPROVEMENT 
 

Primary and Secondary Ash Ponds 
 
The soil strength data and other basic data used in the stability analysis completed by Sargent 
& Lundy were not presented in their report; therefore, we cannot comment on the validity of the 
analysis. We recommend that an addendum to the report be prepared that presents the basis of 
the analysis. If the data used in the analysis cannot be substantiated with a reasonable degree 
of confidence, additional investigation of the east dike may be required to provide valid data for 
the slope stability analysis. 
 
DEI Response 

 

The additional information referenced above was not provided to the contract inspectors 
during the site visit but was provided by DEI as an attachment to our comments on the 
draft report.  The attachment included the additional information used as the basis for 
the slope stability analysis for the Sargent and Lundy Pond Examination Report. The 
attachment is again included with these responses. This recommendation is considered 
complete. 

 
 
A hydrologic and hydraulic analysis should be performed to evaluate the potential for 
overtopping of the embankments during a 100‐year to 50 percent PMP flood event and to 
identify a maximum surcharge pool elevation for slope stability analysis of that loading case. 
 
DEI Response 
 

DEI will have a hydrologic and hydraulic analysis for the Primary and Secondary Ash 
Ponds conducted by an independent engineering firm. This analysis will be completed 
by December 31, 2011. 

 
 
Large trees growing in the outboard slope of the east dike and within five feet of the toe of the 
outboard slope of Primary Pond A should be removed along with other woody vegetation in 
accordance with standard dam safety practice. The primary reason behind the standard practice 
to remove trees from embankment dams is due to the potential for an uprooted tree to 
jeopardize the stability of the embankment and shorten seepage paths through the dike. Given 



 

that the Primary Pond A is nearly full of ash and does not retain a significant quantity of surface 
water (or liquid wastes) and no evidence of seepage was observed at the toe of this dike, the 
argument that the trees provide a measure of stability against rising and falling Wabash River 
levels may have merit, but only if it can be shown through investigation and analysis that the 
embankment will retain adequate stability should trees be uprooted, and if there is no future 
intent to remove the impounded ash and return Primary Ash Pond A to retaining large volumes 
of surface water or liquid wastes. If a decision is made to leave the trees in place, we 
recommend that underbrush and new tree growth be maintained to allow foot access for future 
visual inspections of the slope. 
 
DEI Response 
 

DEI will remove the underbrush and have this completed as soon as practical but no 
later than October 1, 2011.  Any new tree growth will be noted during inspections and 
removed as necessary as soon as practical.  DEI will have an independent engineering 
firm evaluate the impact of uprooted trees and have that completed by December 31, 
2011. 

 
The trees growing along the outboard slope and within 5 feet of the toe of the Secondary Ash 
Pond dike should be removed. Additional maintenance recommendations are provided below: 

• Remove trees/control heavy vegetation along freeboard of upstream slopes 

• Place additional gravel road base in low areas on crest and re-grade to maintain positive 
drainage 

• Monitor outboard slopes for erosion and repair if conditions worsen 
 
DEI Response 
 

DEI will remove trees growing along the outboard slope along the toe of the Secondary 
Ash pond dike and additional gravel will be placed in low areas on the crest. DEI will re-
grade the road to maintain positive drainage.  This will be completed as soon as 
practical but no later than October 1, 2011. Outboard slopes will be inspected in 
accordance with the DEI inspection program.  

 

 
South Ash Pond 
 
In general, the South Pond appeared to be in good condition. No major improvements to the 
South Pond are recommended at this time. Some minor maintenance recommendations are 
provided below: 

• Place and compact additional gravel road base to provide minimum 6‐inches of cover over 

non‐woven geotextile along crest roads and secondary roads. 

• Mow vegetated slopes at least twice annually to control vegetation 

• Repair erosion along groin on outboard northwest corner of the South Pond 
 

DEI Response 

 

DEI will place and compact additional gravel to maintain 6” of cover on areas where 
geotextile is exposed on the access road for the South Pond and will have that 
completed as soon as practical but no later than December 31, 2011.  DEI agrees to 
mow the vegetation at least twice a year on the South Ash Pond berms beginning in the 



 

year 2011.  Erosion along the groin on the NW corner of the South Pond will be repaired 
as soon as practical but no later than October 1, 2011. 

 

 
6.3. MONITORING AND FUTURE INSPECTION 
 
The quarterly internal inspections should continue as planned; however, we recommend that the 
inspections be documented on a standard dam safety inspection checklist similar to the one 
provide by IDNR. Consideration should be given to inspections by licensed dam safety 
engineers on a regular basis to document the continued proper maintenance and operation of 
the CCW impoundments. 
 

DEI Response  

 

DEI has developed and implemented a formal ash pond dike inspection program with 
scheduled inspections performed by internal and third party personnel that meet the 
criteria listed above. Written records of the inspections will be created and 

maintained. This recommendation is considered complete.  
 

6.4. TIME FRAME FOR COMPLETION OF REPAIRS/IMPROVEMENTS 
 
We recommend that the addendum or additional investigations needed to substantiate the 
stability analysis of the east dike of the Primary Pond A and Secondary Pond be completed 
within one year of this inspection. Other recommended maintenance items should be completed 
as soon as practical within one year of this inspection. 
 
DEI Response 
 

As noted above in each response, DEI has identified when each task will be completed. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Attachment - Addendum to Sargent and Lundy Pond Examination 

Report – additional information 
 






























































